IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. 23-753

SCA EFiled: Apr 04 2024
12:52PM EDT
Transaction ID 72676206

CITY OF WEIRTON and
CITY OF WEIRTON BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS,
Respondents below, Petitioners,

v.

SWN PRODUCTION COMPANY, LLC,
Petitioner below, Respondent,

**OPENING BRIEF OF PETITIONERS
CITY OF WEIRTON and
CITY OF WEIRTON BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS**

Ryan P. Simonton (WVSB #11152)
rsimonton@kaycasto.com
Margaret E. Lewis (WVSB #10329)
KAY CASTO & CHANEY, PLLC
150 Clay Street, Suite 100
Morgantown, WV 26501
Phone: (304) 225-0970
*Counsel for Petitioners
City of Weirton and
City of Weirton Board of
Zoning Appeals*

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

(1) The West Virginia Intermediate Court of Appeals (“ICA”) erred by reversing the Circuit Court decision on an implied conflict preemption theory when the Circuit Court decision was confined to review of Respondent SWN Production Company, LLC’s (“Respondent” or “SWN”) facial challenge to the City of Weirton’s (“Weirton” or “Petitioner”) zoning laws enacted pursuant to *W. Va. Code* §§ 8A-1-1 *et seq.* on express preemption and implied field preemption theories.

(2) The ICA erred by finding that Weirton’s zoning laws, or some of them, are preempted under *W. Va. Code* § 22-6A-6(b) on an implied conflict preemption theory, whether applying the impossibility or obstacle theories of conflict preemption.¹

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case considers Respondent’s claim that the zoning laws enacted by the City of Weirton pursuant to the West Virginia Land Use Planning Act are preempted by *W. Va. Code* § 22-6A-6(b), or, as initially plead, by *W. Va. Code* §§ 22-6-1. (App. 5). Respondent initially applied to the City of Weirton Board of Zoning Appeals (“BZA”) on June 11, 2021, for a Conditional Use Permit for a “mineral extraction” use under Weirton’s zoning laws. (App. 3). After the BZA denied the permit, Respondent filed two actions with the Circuit Court of Brooke County on October 29, 2021: (1) a petition for writ of certiorari seeking review of the BZA decision under *W. Va. Code*

¹ Weirton included within its Notice of Appeal assignments of error challenging preemption of the zoning laws on express preemption and implied field preemption theories. However, the ICA confined its ruling specifically to an implied conflict preemption theory and issued no ruling on Respondent’s express preemption or implied field preemption claims. Respondent has not filed a cross-appeal assigning error to the ICA’s decision not to address those theories. Accordingly, this Opening Brief addresses only the ICA’s specific holding that the Circuit Court order should be reversed and some portion of the zoning laws invalidated based on an implied conflict preemption theory.

§§ 8A-9-1 *et seq.*, designated Civil Action No. 21-P-35; and (2) a complaint alleging that state environmental laws governing natural gas horizontal wells preempt local zoning laws enacted under the Land Use Planning Act, in which Respondent sought to enjoin Weirton from enforcing its laws, recover damages against Weirton, and require Weirton to pay Respondent for alleged taking of its property without just compensation by enactment of the zoning laws, designated Civil Action No. 21-C-71. (App. 1, 20).

On March 15, 2022, the two lawsuits were consolidated, and the Circuit Court stayed further proceedings pending resolution of the preemption issues raised by Petitioner in Civil Action No. 21-C-71. (App. 1). Respondent filed an Amended Complaint on March 29, 2022, and Weirton filed its Answer on April 18, 2022. (App. 147, 200).

Respondent filed its Opening Brief on its preemption claims on June 10, 2022. (App. 2). Weirton filed its Response Brief on July 22, 2022, and Respondent filed its Reply on August 5, 2022. (App. 2). Because Respondent raised a new issue in its Reply, alleging that *W. Va. Code* § 22-6A-1 *et seq.* was the source of its preemption claim, the Circuit Court ordered Weirton to file a surreply. (App. 2, 5). Weirton filed its Surreply on August 16, 2022. (App. 2). No discovery was conducted and no evidentiary hearings were held during consideration of Respondent's preemption claim. (App. 4).

After submission of the parties' briefs, the Circuit Court entered its "Order Regarding Pre-Emption" on August 23, 2022 (the "Circuit Court Order") (App. 1-17). The Circuit Court held that Respondent failed to establish its express preemption or implied preemption claims. (App. 17).

The Circuit Court specifically noted, "No discovery has been conducted in this matter and there is no record before this Court as to potential operational conflicts between the local zoning

regulations and the West Virginia Oil and Gas Act at the Brownlee Site.” (App. 4). The Circuit Court Order noted Weirton’s position that, while it can be conclusively determined that there is no express or implied preemption based on Respondent’s facial challenge, “it is premature for this Court to determine whether its zoning regulations interfere with any State environmental regulations inasmuch as no discovery has been conducted and no factual record exists for this Court to consider the application of the factors[.]” (App. 5).

The Circuit Court Order reviewed the text of both West Virginia Code Chapter 22, entitled “Environmental Resources,” including both Article 6, (the “Oil and Gas Act”) and West Virginia Code Chapter 22, Article 6A (the “Natural Gas Horizontal Well Control Act.”).² (App. 6-7). It found that the purpose of Chapter 22 is “carry[ing] out the environmental functions of government in the most efficient and cost effective manner, to protect human health and safety and, to the greatest degree practicable, to prevent injury to plant, animal and aquatic life, improve and maintain the quality of life of our citizens, and promote economic development consistent with environmental goals and standards.” (App. 6; *W. Va. Code* § 22-1-1(a)(5)). The Circuit Court also found that the Legislature established state policy in Chapter 22, “in cooperation with other governmental agencies” and private actors, to “use all practicable means and measures to prevent or eliminate harm to the environment and biosphere, to create and maintain conditions under which man and nature can exist in productive harmony, and fulfill the social, economic and other requirements of present and future generations.” *Id.* The Court found the purpose of Chapter 22 to include “consolidat[ing] environmental regulatory programs in a single state agency[.]” (App. 6; *W. Va. Code* § 22-1-1(b)).

² For ease of reference, *W. Va. Code* § 22-6A-1 *et seq.* is hereinafter referred to as the “Horizontal Well Control Act”).

In denying Respondent’s field preemption claim, the Circuit Court held that under *Solid Waste Services of West Virginia v. Public Service Com’n*, “all environmental programs in West Virginia are to be regulated by the Division of Environmental Protection” but that even assuming this grant of authority to WVDEP “wholly occup[ies] the realm of environmental regulation in West Virginia,” it could not conclude these policy statements are evidence of legislative intent to occupy fields of law outside of environmental regulation. (App. 6-7). As to Respondent’s express preemption claim, the Circuit Court found, “SWN cites no specific pre-emption language within Chapter 22, Article 6 or 6A.” (App. 9).

The Circuit Court order denied Respondent’s express preemption claim because it failed to identify any statutory language identifying laws preempted or the scope of preemption. (App. 9). Moreover, it found that the Legislature’s specific text addressing the application of local zoning laws to natural resources such as gas production authorized application of those laws within municipalities. (App. 15); *W. Va. Code* § 8A-7-10(e). Relying on this Court’s precedent in *Longwell v. Hodge*, as well as a series of decisions from other state courts considering claims that state environmental regulation of gas wells preempts local land use planning, the Circuit Court found that Respondent also failed to establish its implied field preemption claim because environmental laws and local land use laws occupy distinct fields and have different purposes. (App. 11-13, 16); *Longwell v. Hodge*, 171 W. Va. 45, 297 S.E.2d 820 (1982).

Respondent appealed the Circuit Court Order to the ICA, assigning error to the Circuit Court determination that “municipal zoning regulations are neither expressly nor impliedly preempted by the [Oil and Gas Act or the Horizontal Well Control Act] [*W. Va. Code* § 22-6A-6(b)] delegates ‘sole and exclusive authority’ over all aspects of the permitting and location of oil and gas exploration and production activities to the [WVDEP Secretary].” (App. 317).

Respondent relied on certain disputed factual allegations in support of its appeal (App. 324-327), and Weirton noted the claims were disputed and not before the ICA on appeal. (App. 357-8).

On November 1, 2023, the ICA entered its opinion in Docket No. 22-ICA-83 (the “ICA Opinion” or “ICA Op.”) reversing the Circuit Court Order and finding that Weirton’s zoning laws, or some of them, are preempted under an implied conflict preemption theory. (ICA Op. 12-19). The ICA Opinion did not address the Circuit Court’s express preemption ruling as the ICA found “it unnecessary to engage in a more exhaustive express preemption analysis because, in this case, West Virginia Code § 22-6-1 *et seq.*, and § 22-6A-6 *et seq.* clearly preempt the City’s NUDO (which has been repealed) and UDO under implied conflict preemption.” (ICA Op. at 12-13). The ICA also did not address the Circuit Court’s implied field preemption claim because it found “that implied conflict preemption resolves the matter before us, [so] we will not engage in an analysis of implied field preemption.” (ICA Op. at 13, FN 8). The ICA held, “Even absent express preemption, the City’s ordinance is in direct conflict with the state’s Horizontal Well Act, where the Legislature has vested in the WVDEP sole and exclusive authority to regulate the permitting, location, and any and all other drilling and productions (*sic*) processes of oil and gas wells and production operations within the state.” (ICA Op. at 18). This appeal follows.

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Respondents claim, and the ICA held, that application of West Virginia Code Chapter 8A, the Land Use Planning Act, to oil and gas drilling is preempted by the portion of *W. Va. Code* § 22-6A-6(b) that grants environmental regulatory authority to the WVDEP secretary over horizontal gas wells which is “sole and exclusive.” Preemption of duly enacted laws is disfavored, and it is never sufficient to invoke some “brooding [state] interest” in support of preemption. Rather, the

challenger must identify specific constitutional or statutory text identifying the laws preempted and the scope of preemption.

The ICA Opinion holds that implied conflict preemption invalidates Weirton's zoning laws to the extent it includes authority to decide whether drilling will occur at a particular site where WVDEP has issued a "well work permit" for horizontal drilling. The ICA Opinion must be reversed because it decided this conflict issue before it was considered by the Circuit Court and without an evidentiary record. The ICA should have upheld the Circuit Court decision and found that Respondent fails to establish express preemption where *W. Va. Code* § 22-6A-6(b) does not specify any laws preempted or the extent of preemption, Respondent fails to establish implied field preemption where *W. Va. Code* § 22-6A-1 *et seq.* establishes statewide environmental regulation and West Virginia Code Chapter 8A authorizes the distinct field or local land use planning; and that determination of whether Respondent can establish implied conflict preemption must be deferred until a factual record is developed before the trial court.

If the Court nonetheless considers Respondent's implied conflict preemption claim, it should review the claim under applicable law defining the two prongs of conflict preemption: impossibility preemption and obstacle preemption. Under impossibility preemption, Respondent cannot establish impossibility simply by arguing that one law permits what another restricts. Under obstacle preemption, Respondent cannot identify any clear legislative intent to preempt local land use laws, and comparison of the state environmental regulations and local land use regulations establishes that they serve different purposes. Accordingly, the Court should find that Respondent cannot establish conflict preemption, especially when *W. Va. Code* § 8A-7-10(e) specifies that land use regulations apply to natural resource development within municipalities, and the ICA Opinion should be reversed.

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

In accordance with Rule 18(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure, the issue on appeal appears suitable for oral argument under Rule 20(a)(1) and (2) as involving a claim of first impression and one that raises issues of fundamental public importance.

V. ARGUMENT

a. Standard of Review

i. *De Novo* Review of ICA Opinion

Interpretation of a statute presents a question of law subject to *de novo* review. *Hartley Marine Corp. v. Mierke*, 196 W. Va. 669, 673, 474 S.E.2d 599, 603 (1996).

ii. Express Preemption Standard

“To establish a case of express preemption requires proof that Congress, through specific and plain language, acted within constitutional limits and explicitly intended to preempt the specific field covered by state law.” *Morgan v. Ford Motor Co.*, 224 W. Va. 62, 69, 680 S.E.2d 77, 84 (2009) (citing *Hillsborough County, Fla. v. Automated Medical Labs., Inc.*, 471 U.S. 707, 715–16 (1985)).

iii. Implied Field Preemption Standard

To prevail on a claim of implied preemption, “evidence of a congressional intent to preempt the specific field covered by state law” must be pinpointed. *Hartley Marine Corp. v. Mierke*, 196 W. Va. At 674, 474 S.E.2d at 604 (quoting *Wardair Canada, Inc. v. Florida Dep't of Revenue*, 477 U.S. 1, 6, and syl. pt. 1, in part (1986)). “[F]ield pre-emption[] [occurs] where the scheme of federal regulation is ‘so pervasive as to make reasonable the inference that Congress left no room for the States to supplement it[.]’” *In re Flood Litigation*, 216 W. Va. 534, 547, 607 S.E.2d 863,

876 (2004) (quoting *Hartley Marine*, 196 W. Va. At 674, 474 S.E.2d at 604; *Gade v. National Solid Waste Management Ass’n*, 505 U.S. 88, 95 (1992))

iv. Implied Conflict Preemption Standard

“[C]onflict pre-emption[] [occurs] where “compliance with both federal and state regulations is a physical impossibility,” or where state law “stands as an obstacle to the accomplishment and execution of the full purposes and objectives of Congress[.]” *In re Flood Litigation*, 216 W. Va. 534, 547, 607 S.E.2d 863, 876 (2004) (quoting *Hartley Marine*, 196 W. Va. At 674, 474 S.E.2d at 604; *Gade v. National Solid Waste Management Ass’n*, 505 U.S. 88, 95 (1992)). “Preemption may be implied when state law actually conflicts with federal law. The repugnance or conflict should be direct and positive so that the two acts cannot be reconciled or consistently stand together. Conflict preemption, in turn, has two forms: obstacle and impossibility preemption.” 81A C.J.S. *States* § 53.

A. Impossibility Preemption

“Impossibility preemption exists where a party cannot independently do under federal law what state law requires of it. Such preemption requires a comparison of the conflicts between state and federal duties to determine whether the private party could independently do under federal law what state law requires of it.” 81A C.J.S. *States* § 55; *Merck Sharp & Dohme Corp. v. Albrecht*, 587 U.S. 299 (2019). Impossibility preemption is a demanding standard to meet, and showing “the possibility of impossibility” is not enough. *Id.* At 314 (quoting *PLIVA, Inc. v. Mensing*, 564 U.S. 604, at 625, n. 8 (2011)). Impossibility preemption must be supported by clear evidence in the record. *Id.* Impossibility preemption is not established when one set of laws restricts an activity permitted by another. *Id.*; see also *Virginia Uranium, Inc. v. Warren*, 587 U.S. ___, 139 S. Ct. 1894 (2019). The Supreme Court has “refused to find clear evidence of such impossibility

where the laws of one sovereign permit an activity that the laws of the other sovereign restrict or even prohibit. *Id.* (citing *Wyeth v. Levine*, 555 U.S. 555 (2009)).

B. Obstacle Preemption

Obstacle preemption applies where the challenged state law “stands as an obstacle to the accomplishment and execution of the full purposes and objectives of Congress,” *Arizona v. United States*, 567 U.S. 387 (2012). “What is a sufficient obstacle is a matter of judgment, to be informed by examining the federal statute as a whole and identifying its purpose and intended effects.” *Crosby v. National Foreign Trade Council*, 530 U.S. 363 373 (2000). “Obstacle preemption questions are to be resolved by examining the federal law to ascertain its purposes and intended effects, examining the state statute to determine its effects, and comparing the results to determine whether the latter statute in some way obstructs the accomplishment of the objectives that have been identified with respect to the former statute.” 81A C.J.S. States § 54. “State law is displaced under obstacle preemption only to the extent that it actually conflicts with federal law. Federal law does not preempt state law under an obstacle preemption analysis unless the repugnance or conflict is so direct and positive that the two acts cannot be reconciled or consistently stand together.” 81A C.J.S. States § 54; *Virginia Uranium, Inc. v. Warren*, 587 U.S. ___, 139 S. Ct. 1894 (2019). When considering obstacle preemption claims, “any ‘[e]vidence of pre-emptive purpose,’ whether express or implied, must therefore be ‘sought in the text and structure of the statute at issue.’” *Virginia Uranium* at 139 S. Ct. 1907 (quoting *CSX Transp., Inc. v. Easterwood*, 507 U. S. 658, 664 (1993)).

“[M]unicipal zoning regulations interfering with state regulation in other areas will be upheld to the extent that the interference is the coincidental by-product of the municipal zoning board's legitimate pursuit of its delegated goals. Or, to put it another way, ... the conflict between

state and municipality is ‘false.’” *Longwell v. Hodge*, 171 W. Va. 45, 50, 297 S.E.2d 820, 825 (1982).

b. Conflict Preemption Analysis is Premature Under Respondent’s Facial Challenge to West Virginia Land Use Planning Law and the Limits of the Circuit Court Decision.

The Circuit Court’s “Order Regarding Pre-Emption” was not a final, appealable order under *W. Va. Code* § 58-5-1(a) on Respondent’s conflict preemption theory. The ICA Opinion finding conflict preemption should be reversed, and the case remanded to the Circuit Court for further proceedings on Respondent’s conflict preemption claim.

Under *W. Va. Code* § 58-5-1(a), “A party to a civil action may appeal to the Supreme Court of Appeals from a final judgment of any circuit court or from an order of any circuit court constituting a final judgment as to one or more but fewer than all claims or parties upon an express determination by the circuit court that there is no just reason for delay and upon an express direction for the entry of judgment as to such claims or parties[.]” Where the parties disagree about whether an order resolving some but not all issues in the case is final, and factual disputes remain between the parties, the order does not conclusively determine the disputed controversy. *See National Union Fire Insurance Company of Pittsburgh, PA v. Westlake Chemical Corporation*, ___ W. Va. ___, ___ S.E.2d ___ (January 25, 2024), *available at* 2024 WL 313433, at *8.

In this case, the Circuit Court stayed all proceedings following the pleadings to address Respondent’s facial challenge to Weirton’s zoning laws. In its “Order Regarding Pre-Emption,” the Circuit Court specified that, “No discovery has been conducted in this matter and there is no record before this Court as to potential operational conflicts between the local zoning regulations and the West Virginia Oil and Gas Act at the Brownlee Site.” (App. 4). The Circuit Court concluded, “SWN’s Complaint, in so far as it alleges a facial pre-emption challenge to all West

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