IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. 23-753

SCA EFiled: May 20 2024
11:49AM EDT
Transaction ID 73105401

CITY OF WEIRTON and
CITY OF WEIRTON BOARD OF
ZONING APPEALS,

Respondents Below, Petitioners,

v.

SWN PRODUCTION COMPANY, LLC,

Petitioner Below, Respondent.

RESPONSE BRIEF OF RESPONDENT, SWN PRODUCTION COMPANY, LLC
WITH CROSS-ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

Shawn N. Gallagher
WV I.D. No. 12853
shawn.gallagher@bipc.com
Kathleen Jones Goldman
WV I.D. No. 6917
kathleen.goldman@bipc.com

Buchanan Ingersoll & Rooney LLP
Union Trust Building, Suite 200
501 Grant Street
Pittsburgh, PA 15219
(412) 562-8362

*Counsel for Petitioner,
SWN Production Company, LLC*

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Neither the Constitution of West Virginia nor the Legislature have conferred or delegated any oil and gas regulatory functions upon or to any West Virginia municipalities. Rather, all oil and gas regulatory programs in West Virginia - including those relating to the permitting and location of horizontal gas wells - are regulated by WVDEP. In such instances, where the Legislature has comprehensively regulated an entire industry, the West Virginia Constitution requires that conflicting municipal regulations be declared invalid and void. Here, the City Zoning Regulations are in direct conflict with the Oil & Gas Act because they purport to prohibit exactly

⁴ After the Circuit Court entered the final order dismissing the Preemption Action at issue here, the Circuit Court denied the Defensive Appeal, which SWN timely appealed to the ICA at Docket No. 23-ICA-405. After the matter was fully briefed by the parties, on April 22, 2024, the ICA dismissed SWN’s appeal for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. On May 17, 2024, SWN filed an appeal of the dismissal of the fully briefed appeal with the Supreme Court of Appeals.

what the state law permits – the oil and gas drilling development on the Brownlee Site. Therefore, the City Zoning Regulations are invalid because they conflict with the Oil & Gas Act.

The Circuit Court considered and ruled upon SWN’s implied conflict preemption claim and the ICA reversed the Circuit Court Decision on that same issue. Accordingly, the issue of implied conflict preemption is properly before this court and no remand is required or necessary.

On the merits, the ICA correctly found that the City Zoning Regulations are preempted under the implied conflict preemption standard under the West Virginia Constitution and state law. Notwithstanding the simple state law analysis at issue here, the City invites this Court to reverse the ICA based on the implied conflict preemption principles for a federal/state preemption analysis under the United States Constitution and federal law. Although that analysis is not necessary here, the City Zoning Regulations are also preempted under this standard.

Despite the City’s contentions, the City Zoning Regulations do not merely and incidentally “touch upon” areas regulated by the Oil & Gas Act, such that they should be saved from preemption. Rather, the City Zoning Regulations attempt to regulate most of the same areas, including (and dispositively with respect to this case) the location and permitting of natural gas wells. Thus, the City Zoning Regulations are plainly preempted under the principles of implied conflict preemption.

Finally, SWN asserts a Cross-Assignment of Error, wherein it asserts that the ICA could have determined that the City Zoning Regulations are also preempted under the theories of express preemption and implied conflict preemption.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

SWN agrees with the City that, in accordance with Rule 18(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure, the issue on appeal is suitable for oral argument under Rule 20(a)(1) and

Rule 20(a)(2) because it involves and issue of first impression and an issue of fundamental public importance.

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review

Where an appeal involves a question of law regarding preemption, this Court has stated: “Our standard of review is simple: ‘Preemption is a question of law reviewed *de novo*.’” *Metro Tristate, Inc. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n of W. Virginia*, 245 W.Va. 495, 501, 859 S.E.2d 438, 444 (2021) (citing Syl. pt. 1, *Morgan v. Ford Motor Co.*, 224 W. Va. 62, 680 S.E.2d 77 (2009)).

II. The Implied Conflict Preemption Standards

A. The West Virginia State/Municipal Conflict Preemption Standard

Unlike states, which have inherent sovereign powers, a West Virginia “municipal corporation is a creature of the State, and can only perform such functions of government as may have been conferred by the constitution, or delegated to it by the law-making authority of the State. It has no inherent powers, and only such implied powers as are necessary to carry into effect those expressly granted.” Syl. pt. 1, *Toler v. City of Huntington*, 153 W.Va. 313, 168 S.E.2d 551 (1969) (citing Syl. pt. 1, *Brackman’s, Inc. v. City of Huntington*, 126 W.Va. 21, 27 S.E.2d 71 (1943)). “Attached to every statute, every charter, every ordinance or resolution affecting, or adopted by, a municipality, is the implied condition that the same must yield to the predominant power of the State, when that power has been exercised. To hold otherwise would lead to serious confusion, and at times absurd results.” Syl. Pt. 4, *Delardas v. Morgantown Water Comm’n*, 148 W.Va. 776, 137 S.E.2d 426 (1964).

When a conflict arises between a local ordinance and a state statute, the state statute will always prevail. “That municipal ordinances are inferior to in status and subordinate to legislative acts is a principle so fundamental that citation of authorities is unnecessary. Equally fundamental

is the legal principle that *where an ordinance is in conflict with a state law* the former is invalid.” *American Tower Corp. v. Common Council of the City of Beckley*, 210 W.Va. 345, 349, 557 S.E.2d 752, 756 (W. Va. 2001) (emphasis added) (citing *Vector Co. v. Board of Zoning Appeals*, 155 W.Va. 362, 367, 184 S.E.2d 301, 304 (1971)). “There is a...general principle that *municipalities may only exercise powers not in conflict with general law*, unless the power to do so is plainly and specifically granted. This principle has always prevailed, but is established beyond question by Section 39(a) of Article VI of our Constitution, known as the Municipal Home Rule Amendment, ratified by the voters of the State in the general election held in 1936[.]” *Brackman’s Inc.*, 126 W.Va. 21, 27 S.E.2d 71, 73 (emphasis added).

Section 39(a) of Article VI provides that, any municipal ordinance or charter “*shall be invalid and void if inconsistent or in conflict with* this Constitution or the *general laws of the State* then in effect, or thereafter, from time to time enacted.” W. Va. Const, art. 6, §39(a) (emphasis added). Thus, this Court has held that “where both the State and a municipality enact legislation on the same subject matter, it is generally held that if there are inconsistencies, the municipal ordinance must yield.” *Davidson v. Shoney’s Big Boy Restaurant*, 181 W.Va. 65 at 68, 380 S.E.2d 232 at 235 (1989).⁵

⁵ In his preeminent treatise on municipal government, Eugene McQuillan succinctly explained the relationship between the laws of municipalities and state legislatures:

It is fundamental that *municipal ordinances are inferior in status and subordinate to the laws of the state*. The purpose of the preemption doctrine is to establish a priority between potentially conflicting laws enacted by various levels of government. Consistently, it is a general rule, sometimes expressly enunciated by the state constitution, statutes, or city charters, that ordinances regulating subjects, matters, and things on which there is a general law of the state must be in harmony with that state law, and *in any conflict between an ordinance and a statute the latter must prevail*, unless under the statutes or law of the state the ordinance plainly and specifically is given predominance in a particular instance or as to a particular subject matter. Fundamental to the doctrine of preemption is the understanding that

B. The Federal/State Conflict Preemption Standard

The concept of federal preemption of state law derives originally from the Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution.⁶ “[The Supreme Court of Appeals] has interpreted the doctrine of preemption to mean that “[t]he Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution, Article VI, Clause 2, invalidates *state laws* that interfere with or are contrary to *federal law*.” *Metro Tristate, Inc. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n of W. Virginia*, 245 W.Va. 495, 503, 859 S.E.2d 438, 446 (2021) (emphasis added). “Although there can be no crystal-clear, distinctly-marked formula for determining whether a *state statute* is preempted, there are two ways in which preemption may be accomplished: expressly or impliedly.” Syl. pt. 5, *Morgan*, 224 W. Va. at 65, 680 S.E.2d at 80. “There are two types of implied preemption: field preemption and conflict preemption.” *Id.*, Syl. pt. 7.

This Court has held that the implied conflict preemption by a federal law of state law “is triggered only when it is ‘impossible to reconcile both state and federal laws’ *or* when state law ‘stands as an obstacle to the accomplishment and execution of the full purposes and objectives of Congress...’ *Metro Tristate*, 245 W.Va. at 509, 859 S.E.2d at 452 (emphasis added). “What is a sufficient obstacle is a matter of judgment, to be informed by examining the federal statute as a whole and identifying its purpose and intended effects.” *Crosby v. National Foreign Trade*

local governments lack the authority to craft their own exceptions to general state laws.

E. McQuillin, *The Law of Municipal Corporations* § 15:18 (Clark, Boardman, Callaghan, 3d ed. 1986) (emphasis added; internal citations omitted).

⁶ The Supremacy Clause provides that “[t]his Constitution, and the Laws of the United States which shall be made in Pursuance thereof; and all Treaties made, or which shall be made, under the Authority of the United States, shall be the supreme Law of the Land; and the Judges in every State shall be bound thereby, any Thing in the Constitution or Laws of any State to the Contrary notwithstanding.” U.S. Const. Art. VI, cl. 2.

Council, 530 U.S. 363 373 (2000). “Under an implied conflict preemption analysis, federal statutory or policy language explicitly signaling an intent to preempt state law is not necessary.”

Metro Tristate., 245 W.Va. at 509, 859 S.E.2d at 452.

III. The Oil & Gas Act Preemption Provision

Section 22-6A-6(b) of the Oil & Gas Act provides that:

Except for the duties and obligations conferred by statute upon the shallow gas well review board pursuant to article eight, chapter twenty-two-c of this code, the coalbed methane review board pursuant to article twenty-one of this chapter, and the oil and gas conservation commission pursuant to article nine, chapter twenty-two-c of this code, *the [WVDEP] has sole and exclusive authority to regulate the permitting, location,* spacing, drilling, fracturing, stimulation, well completion activities, operation, any and all other drilling and production processes, plugging and reclamation *of oil and gas wells* and production operations *within the state.*

W. Va. Code § 22-6A-6(b) (emphasis added).⁷

IV. The Circuit Court Considered SWN’s Conflict Preemption Challenge and the ICA Properly Ruled on the Same

Indicative as to the strength of its arguments on the merits of SWN’s preemption claims, the City leads off its Opening Brief by arguing that the ICA Opinion should be reversed because “[t]he Circuit Court’s ‘Order Regarding Pre-Emption’ was not a final, appealable order under *W. Va. Code* § 58-5-1(a) on Respondent’s conflict preemption theory...” *See* Pet. Br., at pp. 10-11. The City further asserts that SWN never raised the issue of implied conflict preemption until its briefs were filed with the ICA. Both of the City’s contentions are false.

⁷ Chapter 22, Article 6A of the West Virginia Code is the article of the Oil & Gas Act that provides regulations applicable to horizontal drilling activities. *See* W. Va. Code § 22-6A-5. Section 22-6A-5(a) provides that “To the extent that horizontal wells governed by this article are similar to conventional oil and gas wells regulated under article six of this chapter, the following sections of article six of this chapter are hereby incorporated by reference in this article...Any conflict between the provisions of article six and the provisions of this article shall be resolved in favor of this article.”

To the contrary, SWN’s preemption challenge to the City Zoning Regulations included the theory of implied conflict preemption in its Complaint. *See* Verified Complaint (App. 25-26) (“When a conflict arises between a local ordinance and a state statute, the state statute will always prevail.”) *Id.* (“A municipal ordinance conflicts with a state statute if it espouses a view that is irreconcilable with that contained in a State statute.”); (App. 26) (“The City’s ordinances, which effectively prohibit drilling in the City, are in conflict with the West Virginia Oil and Gas Act...”).⁸

Similarly, the City cannot credibly argue that the Circuit Court declined to address the issue of implied conflict preemption in the Circuit Court Decision. The Circuit Court specifically discussed the conflict preemption standard, stating that “[w]here a law does not expressly preempt other laws, it may still operate to preempt them if it is intended to occupy the entire regulatory field or if there exists a conflict between the laws such that compliance with both is impossible.” (App. 9) (citing *Morgan*, 224 W. Va. at 62, 680 S.E.2d at 85, at fn. 8). The Circuit Court further held that “[a]ny perceived ‘conflict’ between the City of Weirton’s authority under Chapter 8A

⁸ Additionally, implied conflict preemption was thoroughly briefed by SWN at the Circuit Court. *See* (App. 220) (“In such instances, where the Legislature has comprehensively regulated an entire industry, the West Virginia Constitution requires that conflicting municipal regulations be declared invalid and void.”); (App. 221) (“That municipal ordinances are inferior to in status and subordinate to legislative acts is a principle so fundamental that citation of authorities is unnecessary. Equally fundamental is the legal principle that where an ordinance is in conflict with a state law the former is invalid.”); (App. 227) (“Perhaps most importantly, both of the ordinances vest final discretionary approval power for natural gas wells in the City’s Board of Zoning Appeals, and not the Director of the WVDEP, as is required in the Oil and Gas Act.”); (App. 259) (“As such, the City’s oil and gas regulations are also preempted under the principles of implied field preemption and conflict preemption.”); (App. 266) (“[E]ven more compelling is the fundamental conflict between the Oil & Gas Act and all local zoning laws, each of which purport to vest final approval of well locations in a body other than WVDEP.”). Thus, the City’s contention that SWN did not raise the issue of conflict preemption until its appeal to the ICA is simply false.

and the DEP's authority under Chapters 6 and/or 6A is a "false conflict." (App. 11) (*citing to Longwell v. Hodge*, 171 W. Va. 45, 297 S.E.2d 820 (1982)).⁹

The City further suggests that the Circuit Court could not have made a determination with respect to conflict preemption because there is not an evidentiary record. *See* Pet. Br, at p. 11. However, SWN's conflict preemption challenge to the City Zoning Regulations does not require an evidentiary record beyond that which is already established. Here, it is undisputed that WVDEP issued a permit for the location of the Brownlee Site. It is undisputed that the City denied a permit for the location of the Brownlee Site. Section 22-6A-6(b) of the Oil & Gas Act vests "sole" and "exclusive" authority over the location and permitting of horizontal gas wells with WVDEP. It is also undisputed that the City Zoning Regulations vest final discretionary approval power for the location of natural gas well pads in the BZA, and not the WVDEP. These are the only essential facts necessary for this Court to decide the question of law in this case.

The ICA succinctly explained the fundamental conflict, which does not require any further development of the record in this case as follows:

Even absent express preemption, the City's ordinance is in direct conflict with the state's Horizontal Well Act, where the Legislature has vested in the WVDEP sole and exclusive authority to regulate the permitting, location, and any and all other drilling and productions processes of oil and gas wells and production operations within the state. *See* W. Va. Code § 22-6A-6(b)...Once the WVDEP issued a permit, the City cannot hinder SWN's ability to begin drilling. The City's approval scheme is in direct conflict with the Horizontal Well Act which vests WVDEP with 'sole and exclusive authority' to regulate the 'permitting' and 'location' of horizontal gas wells. *See* W. Va. Code § 22-6A-8(b). This language cannot be reconciled with the City's position that a municipality retains the authority to

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